ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

DEC 05 2014

Appeal from Greenville County

SC Court of Appeals

Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

RAY C. WARREN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002251

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in admitting an audio and video recording of the complainant's forensic interview pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 17-23-175 since the statement did not possess particularized guarantees of trustworthiness, specifically the statement did not represent a detailed account of the alleged offense as required by the statute?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant at the August 27, 2013 term of General Sessions for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and lewd act upon a child. R. 259 - 260. His case was called to trial on October 7, 2013 before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, and a jury. R. 1. Assistant Solicitor Lisa Bentley represented the state, and Randall Lee Chambers represented Appellant. R. 1.

On October 9, 2013, the jury, after deliberating for nearly ten hours, acquitted Appellant of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree, but found him guilty of lewd act upon a child. R. 254, ll. 1-20. Judge Stilwell sentenced Appellant to fifteen years suspended upon the service of eleven years imprisonment and five years probation. Appellant was also required to register as a sex offender. R. 255, ll. 2-8.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in admitting an audio and video recording of the complainant's forensic interview pursuant to South Carolina Code Section 17-23-175 since the statement did not possess particularized guarantees of trustworthiness, specifically the statement did not represent a detailed account of the alleged offense as required by the statute.

Pretrial Hearing

Defense counsel moved pretrial to exclude the audio and video recording of Minor's forensic interview with Christine Carlberg pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-23-175.¹ In response to Appellant's motion, the state called Ms. Carlberg to the stand.

Carlberg testified she is employed by the Greenville Department of Mental Health, and is "contracted to do work at the Julie Valentine Center." R. 6, ll. 15-20. She said her primary duty is to conduct forensic interviews. She explained that a "forensic interview is a semi-structured non-meeting developmentally appropriate method of gathering information from the child." R. 7, ll. 1-6. Carlberg said she had been conducting forensic interviews for thirteen years and had conducted a total of 2,384 forensic interviews during her career. R. 7, ll. 10-11; R. 8, ll. 11-13. She also explained that she holds a Bachelor of Science Degree in Rehabilitation Services Education from Pennsylvania State University with a minor in psychology and a Master of Arts Degree in Marriage and Family Therapy from Preform Theological Center in Jackson, Mississippi. R. 7, ll. 15-21. Additionally, Carlberg stated she trained at Corner House, "which is a

¹ The name of the minor child is redacted pursuant to the April 15, 2014 order from our Supreme Court entitled, "Revised Order Concerning Personal Identifying Information and Other Sensitive Information in Appellate Court Filings."

nationally leading training facility for forensic interviews,” and Finding Words.² R. 7, ll. 11013.

Carlberg testified she uses the protocol called RATAAC when she conducts forensic interviews. She explained, “RATAAC is a five stage semi-structured protocol that stands for Rapport, Anatomy I.D., Touch inquiry, Abuse Scenario, and Closure. R. 7, l. 22 – 8, l. 4. Carlberg maintained that she uses “what’s called open-ended or non-leading types of questions as much as possible” because “[y]ou want the child or the person that you’re interviewing just to be able to tell as much as they can as freely and as openly and as much in their own words and language as they can.” R. 8, ll. 14-22. She also claimed she never uses leading questions, but she “might use a more focused question like, for example, tell me what happened in the living room.” R. 8, l. 23 – 9, l. 4.

Carlberg testified she interviewed Minor, who was eleven years old, on July 20, 2011 after Minor was referred to the Julie Valentine Center for a forensic interview. She said she used the RATAAC protocol and that the interview was audio and video recorded. R. 9, l. 10 – 10, l. 8. The state admitted this video into evidence for purposes of the pretrial hearing. R. 10, l. 22 – 11, l. 7.

On cross-examination, Carlberg admitted that before she interviewed Minor she knew the specific allegations made by Minor from speaking with a family member and from reviewing notes made by the doctor who examined Minor. However, she was uncertain whether she had spoken to or received any information from law enforcement. R. 12, l. 3 – 13, l. 16.

² This Court may take judicial notice that Finding Words is trademark of the American Prosecutors Research Institute, which is a non-profit affiliate of the National District Attorneys Association.

At the conclusion of Carlberg's testimony, the solicitor argued that the audio and video recording of Minor's forensic interview was admissible because, based on the testimony of Carlberg, the evidence met the requirements of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175. She also noted Minor was under the age of twelve at the time she was interviewed and that Minor was expected to testify during the trial. R. 13, l. 22 – 14, l. 5.

Defense counsel objected to the admissibility of the recording stating, "I have concern[s] about after having reviewed the tape on several occasions, . . . that it doesn't represent a detailed account of the alleged offense. It seems to me that the girl's statement, as she was interviewed, she was very nebulous as to dates and times and the manner. And for that reason we would submit that it is inadmissible." R. 14, ll. 7-17.

The court ruled that the audio and video recording of Minor's forensic interview was admissible pursuant to § 17-23-175 because the court found the out-of-court statement met all the requirements under the statute. Specifically, the court stated, "With respect to the details, I find it was sufficiently detailed. Particularly, in light of the fact that she was an 11 year-old girl at the time of the interview . . . I think that there was sufficient detail in her testimony that would meet the requirements under the statute. I do find that the witness is qualified with the appropriate experience and education and training in the forensic interrogation. Therefore, I'm going to find that admissible." R. 14, l. 18 – 15, l. 9.

Facts at Trial

Deputy David Picone of the Greenville County Sheriff's Office testified that on April 23, 2011 he responded to a residence in Taylors concerning a complaint regarding an alleged "sexual assault." R. 27, l. 12 – 28, l. 22. The complaint was made by Minor's

mother, Victoria Johns. Picone testified that when he arrived at the residence, Johns, Minor, and several other family members were present at the home. He claimed that he immediately separated Johns and Minor and spoke to Johns “to find out what was going on.” R. 28, l. 23 – 29, l. 13.

After speaking with Johns, Picone said he spoke alone to Minor, who was eleven years old. According to Picone, Minor was crying, “very upset,” and “[o]bviously scared.” Picone claimed Minor ultimately disclosed sexual abuse to him and told him the abuse started when she was “around eight to nine years old” and that it occurred at two different residences in Taylors. R. 29, l. 23 – 31, l. 24.

Investigator Michael Robertson, who ultimately investigated the case, testified that he met with Minor and Johns at his office on May 3, 2011. Robertson explained that he introduced himself to Minor and spoke to Johns alone, but that he never questioned Minor about the allegations. R. 36, l. 4 – 38, l. 23. Instead, he referred Minor to the Julie Valentine Center for a forensic interview. R. 39, l. 25 – 40, l. 10. Robertson testified that he attended the forensic interview and, based on his observations during the forensic interview, he “went and signed warrants on [Appellant].” He also claimed that he tried to contact Appellant, but “was unable to speak with [him].” R. 40, ll. 11-22. This was the extent of his investigation. R. 41, l. 6 – 42, l. 6.

During cross-examination, Robertson conceded there was no physical evidence or forensic evidence gathered in this case. He also admitted there were no eyewitnesses to the alleged sexual abuse. R. 42, ll. 7-15.

Lynn Rice, Minor’s grandmother and Appellant’s girlfriend of nearly eight years until these allegations surfaced, testified that Minor often lived with her, Appellant, and

several other family members and friends. Rice said that she and Appellant lived in five different residences during the course of their relationship. It appeared from her testimony that the family had a very unstable living environment, were constantly moving, and shared a residence with a large number of people. See R. 44, l. 12 – 50, l. 21; see also R. 58, l. 22 – 59, l. 3; see also R. 62, l. 2 – 63, l. 4.

Rice testified that Minor's mother, Victoria Johns, was addicted to methamphetamine, and that when she was using, she would leave Minor and Minor's siblings with Rice. R. 50, l. 22 – 52, l. 1. Rice maintained that when she was working, Appellant or someone else who lived at the house would watch Minor and the other children. R. 53, ll. 1-6. She testified Appellant would take the family children, including Minor, squirrel hunting, fishing, walk them to the park, and play football with them. She said Appellant got along well with all the children, except Minor's sister who was "a handful" because she was "very hyper" and "very outspoken." R. 53, l. 7 – 54, l. 18.

Rice testified that on the Saturday before Easter 2011, she was sitting in the living room of their home when her daughter, Victoria Johns, "came flying out, somewhere in the dining room area or hallway area and started yelling at Ray [Appellant], jumping on Ray, literally attacking him, going off." R. 55, l. 10 – 56, l. 3. She explained that after this confrontation, she and Appellant left the residence. Rice said when she first heard about these allegations she thought "they" were trying to force Appellant out of the house. R. 66, ll. 3-6.

Victoria Johns testified she first met Appellant when he came to visit his father who was living in the same residence as her, her mother, Lynn Rice, and Minor, along with several other family members and friends. R. 70, l. 10 – 71, l. 9. Johns explained

that Appellant eventually moved into the residence as well and began a romantic relationship with Johns' mother, Lynn Rice. R. 71, ll. 10-15; R. 72, ll. 7-9. Around this same time, Johns began using methamphetamine and would "be on it for weeks" at a time. R. 74, ll. 6-17. When she was using, she would leave her children with her mother.³

Johns testified that on the Saturday before Easter 2011, she went to find Minor who was playing games on the computer in her bedroom. When she walked in the room, she saw Minor sitting in the computer chair. Johns claimed, "She [Minor] had her legs up like this in a chair . . . And Ray [Appellant] was draped over her and he had his hands where I could not see them. And a light bulb just went off and I knew something did not appear right." R. 76, l. 17 – 79, l. 2. She maintained Appellant's "arms were over her [Minor's] shoulders and his hands were like where her feet or her vagina would be." However, Johns admitted that she could not see Appellant's hands. R. 79, ll. 13-23.

Johns testified that she immediately took Minor back to Johns' bedroom in the garage and asked her if Appellant "had ever touched her inappropriately." R. 79, l. 24 – 80, l. 14. According to Johns, Minor disclosed sexual abuse. R. 80, ll. 15-17. Because it was the Easter weekend, Johns said she did not call the Greenville County Sheriff's Office until the following Monday. She also called the Department of Social Services (DSS). R. 83, ll. 3-15. Deputy Picone eventually came to their home sometime that Monday. R. 84, ll. 8-15.

³ Johns was convicted of manufacturing methamphetamine and was released from prison about a week before trial. R. 73, l. 19 – 74, l. 5.

Christine Carlberg, who was contracted to do work at the Julie Valentine Center (JVC), testified that she conducted a forensic interview with Minor on July 20, 2011. R. 113, ll. 19-22; R. 118, ll. 1-2. Carlberg explained Minor was eleven years old at the time of the interview and had been referred to JVC by the Greenville County Sheriff's Office. R. 118, ll. 3-10. She claimed Minor was cooperative during the interview and ultimately disclosed sexual abuse. R. 120, l. 5 – 121, l. 1. Carlberg also explained that the forensic interview was audio and video recorded. R. 119, ll. 3-4. This recording was entered into evidence by the state and ultimately published to the jury. R. 119, ll. 20-25; R. 121, l. 13. Defense counsel objected when the recording was played for the jury. R. 121, ll. 5-13.

On cross-examination, Carlberg testified that before the forensic interview, Minor had spoken to her mother, law enforcement, and the medical doctor who examined her about the allegations. Carlberg admitted that at the time she interviewed Minor, she had been informed about the specific allegations Minor had made from these various sources. R. 123, l. 10 – 124, l. 1. Additionally, she had gathered background information about Minor, specifically that Minor had been raised in "extremely unstable circumstances," that she had had no contact with her father since she was approximately four years old, and that her mother had ongoing problems with drug abuse and would leave Minor in other people's care for weeks at a time. R. 124, l. 5 – 125, l. 4.

Dr. Nancy Henderson, who was qualified as an expert in child abuse pediatrics, explained that she is employed by the Greenville Health System and contracted to do work at the Julie Valentine Center. She testified she examined Minor on May 16, 2011 after Minor was referred by the Greenville County Sheriff's Office "[b]ecause of

concerns of sexual abuse.” R. 136, l. 19 – 137, l. 8. Henderson claimed Minor disclosed sexual abuse to her and indicated the abuse occurred when she was eight or nine years old. R. 138, ll. 12-18. However, Minor did not indicate where the abuse allegedly occurred. R. 139, ll. 3-6.

Henderson testified Minor had a normal medical exam and that there was no trauma or injury to her hymen. R. 139, l. 10 – 140, l. 12. However, Henderson claimed the fact Minor had a normal medical exam did not “rule out the possibility of child sexual abuse.” R. 140, ll. 13-15.

Minor, who was thirteen years old at the time of trial, testified that she lived with her mother, Victoria Johns, and grandmother, Lynn Rice, “[p]retty much [her] whole life” until August 2011 when she moved in with her aunt and uncle. She claimed Appellant “molested” her and that he first started touching her when she at “least five or six years old.” R. 148, l. 11 – 149, l. 9. This was in contrast to Deputy Picone’s testimony and Dr. Henderson’s testimony who both stated that Minor told them the alleged abuse started when she was approximately eight or nine years old. See R. 29, l. 23 – 31, l. 24; see also Tr. 138, ll. 12-18.

Minor explained “[i]n the beginning it was like nothing major” and that “it started off with like tag” when Appellant would tag her “butt” or her chest. R. 149, l. 16 – 150, l. 21. She said it was “pretty much like groping.” R. 149, ll. 19-21. Minor alleged the touching “started progressing” “when [she] got older, like when [she] turned seven.” R. 152, ll. 3-11. She said she was sitting on the couch in her grandmother’s trailer when Appellant sat down next to her and put his hand on her leg and eventually put his finger inside her waistband. R. 153, l. 5 – 155, l. 6. Minor claimed that about two days after

this alleged incident, she was again sitting on the couch at her grandmother's house when Appellant put his hands inside her pants under her "panties" and "rubb[ed] like the lip [of her vagina]." When asked by the solicitor whether Appellant went "inside [her] vagina that day," Minor said, "I think so." R. 155, l. 7 – 157, l. 1.

Minor claimed that at the end of that same week, Appellant again came into the living room at her grandmother's house and sat next to her on the couch. She said he put his hand inside her pants, in her underwear, and "was touching the lip and then he started rubbing the inside." R. 157, l. 2 – 159, l. 14. Minor testified that this happened "[a]t least a couple times a week" and did not always occur in the living room at her grandmother's house, but also occurred when she was in her grandmother's room on the computer. R. 160, ll. 17-23.

Minor also testified that Appellant touched her one time outside of the house. She said this happened when they were fishing at Cannon's Fishing Lake. She claimed only she and Appellant were at the lake sitting on a bench when Appellant put his hand inside her underwear and rubbed both the inside and outside of her vagina. R. 163, l. 21 – 168, l. 18.

Furthermore, Minor testified she saw Appellant's private parts on one occasion. She claimed that while she was sleeping over at her grandmother's house, Appellant again sat next to her on the couch, unzipped his pants, and took his penis out. Minor alleged Appellant "made [her] put [her] face on it," but she was "squirming and crying" so Appellant stopped and said, "I guess you're not ready yet." R. 173, l. 2 – 176, l. 1.

Minor admitted that it had been approximately one or two years since Appellant had allegedly touched her in a sexual way when she ultimately disclosed. See R. 177, ll. 16-20.

Discussion

The court erred in admitting the recording of Minor's forensic interview pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §17-23-175 since the statement did not represent a detailed account of the alleged offense and therefore did not possess "particularized guarantees of trustworthiness" as required by the statute.

Under §17-23-175, before an out-of-court statement of a child is admissible in a general sessions court proceeding, the court must find, among other conditions, "in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the totality of the circumstances surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness." The statute lists several factors the court may consider when determining whether a statement possesses particularized guarantees of trustworthiness including, (1) whether the statement was elicited by leading questions, (2) whether the interviewer has been trained in conducting investigative interviews of children, (3) whether the statement represents a detailed account of the alleged offense, (4) whether the statement has internal coherence, and (5) sworn testimony of any participant which may be determined necessary by the court. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-23-175; see also State v. Bryant, 382 S.C. 505, 508-509, 675 S.E.2d 816, 818 (Ct. App. 2009); see also State v. Russell, 383 S.C. 447, 450-451, 679 S.E.2d 542, 543-544 (Ct. App. 2009).

Minor's account of the alleged sexual abuse given during her forensic interview with Christine Carlberg was very vague and far from detailed. It took her a long time to recall

specifics and she was very hesitant in her responses, especially when it came to how old she was when the incidents allegedly occurred, the dates of when they allegedly occurred, and where they allegedly occurred. She could not recall any specific dates or addresses, only referring to various rooms in Trailer 19 and Trailer 20 and Cannon's Fishing Lake. Her account of what allegedly occurred was also vague, especially compared to her trial testimony. During the interview she claimed she was "raped" and alleged, "He [Appellant] touched me down here, made me kiss him, and he made me put my face on his private part." State's Exhibit No. 5 (DVD of Forensic Interview). Minor also claimed Appellant rubbed her "woo-hoo" with his hand under her clothing. State's Exhibit No. 5 (DVD of Forensic Interview). This was the extent of the details Minor provided.

Surprisingly, during her trial testimony, Minor could remember specific incidences of when Appellant allegedly touched her, where these incidences allegedly occurred, and how old she was when they allegedly occurred. Her testimony was clearly more developed and detailed than her account given during the forensic interview. For example, during her testimony she claimed the alleged abuse started when she was five or six years old with tag and testified Appellant would tag her "butt" and chest area. She used the word "groping" to describe this touching. R. 206, l. 11 – 208, l. 24. Minor testified that the touching "started progressing" when she turned seven. R. 210, ll. 3-11. She also used words like the "lip" of her vagina and alleged Appellant would rub her vagina for two to three minutes. See R. 213, l. 7 – 214, l. 24; see also R. 217, ll. 3-16; see also R. 220, l. 4 – 221, l. 4.