ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002251

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

RAY C. WARREN,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

CHRISTINA CATOE BIGELOW
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 73562

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

WILLIAM W. WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 East North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8282

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

DEC 11 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Appellant's issue regarding the admission of the forensic interview video is not preserved for appellate review where the video was admitted at trial "without objection" after defense counsel stated he had no objection to the video. However, assuming the issue was preserved, the trial judge properly admitted the forensic interview video under the totality of the circumstances pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-23-175, and Appellant's contention that the video did not represent a detailed account of the alleged offense is wholly without merit.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted in Greenville County in August 2013 for criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the first degree and lewd act upon a minor. On October 7-9, 2013, Appellant was tried before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell and a jury. The jury found Appellant guilty of lewd act upon a minor and not guilty of criminal sexual conduct with a minor, and Judge Stilwell sentenced Appellant to fifteen years suspended to eleven years of active time and five years of probation. He also ordered that Appellant was required to register as a sex offender. A timely notice of appeal was served and filed.

ARGUMENT

Appellant's issue regarding the admission of the forensic interview video is not preserved for appellate review where the video was admitted at trial "without objection" after defense counsel stated he had no objection to the video. However, assuming the issue was preserved, the trial judge properly admitted the forensic interview video under the totality of the circumstances pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-23-175, and Appellant's contention that the video did not represent a detailed account of the alleged offense is wholly without merit.

Issue Preservation

Prior to trial, a hearing was held regarding the admissibility of the forensic interview video. (See R. p. 5-15). At the conclusion of the hearing, defense counsel conceded the tape generally met the statutory requirements, but argued as follows:

The part that I have concern about after having reviewed the tape on several occasions, is that it doesn't represent a detailed account of the alleged offense. It seems to me that the girl's statement, as she was interviewed, she was very nebulous as to dates and times and the manner. And for that reason we would submit that it is inadmissible. (R. p. 14, lines 7-17).

The trial judge ruled that the video met the requirements of S.C. Code § 17-23-175 and was "sufficiently detailed" especially considering that the victim was only eleven years old at the time of the forensic interview. (R. p. 14, line 18 – p. 15, line 7). Thus, the judge ruled that the video was admissible. (R. p. 15, line 8).

The State offered the forensic interview video for admission into evidence during the testimony of the forensic interviewer, who was the State's seventh witness at trial. (R. p. 119, lines 20-21). The trial judge asked if there were "any objections," and defense counsel stated "No, Your Honor." (R. p. 119, lines 22-23). The trial judge then stated, "[a]ll right, without objection. The same is admitted into evidence." (R. p. 119, lines 24-25). A few minutes later, when the State requested permission to publish the video to the jury, the judge asked if there were any objections. (R. p. 121, lines 5-8). At that point,

defense counsel stated: “Only subject to my prior objection, Your Honor.” (R. p. 121, lines 9-10). The judge responded, “I understand. Okay, you may publish it.” (R. p. 121, lines 11-12).

Generally, a motion *in limine* seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial evidence to the jury, and a ruling on such a motion is preliminary and subject to change based on developments during trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 32, 522 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1999). A ruling on a motion *in limine* does not constitute a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 42, 479 S.E.2d 57, 60 (1996). Therefore, an objection must be made at the time the evidence is introduced during trial in order to preserve the issue for appellate review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 507, 435 S.E.2d 859, 862 (1993). The only exception to this rule is where a judge makes a ruling on the admission of evidence on the record immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence. State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 642, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001); see State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156-157, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009).

Here, the forensic interview video was offered for admission during the seventh witness at trial. The video was admitted into evidence “without objection” after defense counsel stated he had no objection to admission of the video. (R. p. 119, lines 22-25). Accordingly, any issue Appellant had with respect to the video was expressly waived, and the issue raised on appeal regarding the admissibility of the video is not preserved for review. See State v. Dicapua, 373 S.C. 452, 455, 646 S.E.2d 150, 152 (Ct. App. 2007) (“Dicapua's sole objection to the videotape came in the form of a motion in limine to suppress the videotape because of its lack of audio. Once the State moved to enter the videotape into evidence and publish it to the jury, however, Dicapua's counsel

specifically stated he had ‘no objection.’ We find this amounted to a waiver of any issue Dicapua had with the videotape.”); Burke v. AnMed Health, 393 S.C. 48, 55, 710 S.E.2d 84, 88 (Ct. App. 2011) (“When a party states to the trial court that it has no objection to the introduction of evidence, even though the party previously made a motion to exclude the evidence, the issue raised in the previous motion is not preserved for appellate review.”); see also State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 595, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287 (Ct. App. 2005) (“A party cannot complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”). Defense counsel’s attempt to resurrect his pre-trial objection to the video later, when the State sought to publish the video to the jury, was ineffectual where the video had already been admitted “without objection.” See generally State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981) (“Failure to *contemporaneously* object to the question now advanced as prejudicial cannot be later bootstrapped by a motion for a mistrial. Any objection to the testimony was waived.”) (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Accordingly, this Court should dismiss the appeal on error preservation grounds.

Discussion Regarding the Merits

Assuming the issue was somehow preserved for appellate review, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion by admitting the forensic interview video pursuant to S.C. Code § 17-23-175. Subsection (A)(4) of S.C. Code § 17-23-175 states that an out-of-court statement of a child is admissible if “the court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that *the totality of the circumstances* surrounding the making of the statement provides particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.” (emphasis added).

Subsection (B) states as follows:

(B) In determining whether a statement possesses particularized guarantees of trustworthiness, the court *may* consider, *but is not limited to*, the following factors:

- (1) whether the statement was elicited by leading questions;
- (2) whether the interviewer has been trained in conducting investigative interviews of children;
- (3) whether the statement represents a detailed account of the alleged offense;
- (4) whether the statement has internal coherence; and
- (5) sworn testimony of any participant which may be determined as necessary by the court.

S.C. Code § 17-23-175 (B) (emphasis added).

The language of the statute makes it clear that, before admitting a prior out of court statement of a child, a trial court **must** consider the “totality of the circumstances” surrounding the making of the out of court statement, and that the trial court **may consider but is not limited to** the factors contained in subsection (B). Therefore, even if one of the factors is lacking or absent, an out-of-court statement can still be properly admitted. Critically, the fact that the “totality of the circumstances” must be considered gives the trial court flexibility to consider the out-of-court statement in full context and allows the court to consider the optional, non-exhaustive list of factors in subsection (B) in light of the age and abilities of the particular child in question.

Appellant argues that the trial judge erred in admitting the victim’s forensic interview video because the victim’s “account of the alleged abuse during the forensic interview did not possess ‘particularized guarantees of trustworthiness’ because her statements lacked a detailed account of the alleged offense.”¹ (Brief of Appellant, p. 15).

¹ This argument is broader than the argument defense counsel made to the trial judge. Below, defense counsel only argued that the video “doesn’t represent a detailed account of the alleged offense” because the victim was “very nebulous as to dates and times and manner” and that the video was therefore inadmissible. (R. p. 119, lines 11-17). Defense counsel did not specifically argue that the lack of detail standing alone indicated the video statement did not possess particularized guarantees of trustworthiness.

Appellant's argument is wholly without merit. First, as discussed above, the fact that the statements made in the forensic interview were not as detailed as they could have been is not by itself a sufficient reason to rule that the tape was inadmissible. Instead, the judge was required to consider the "totality of the circumstances," including – if he deemed it appropriate – whether the statement represented a detailed account of the alleged offense. See S.C. Code § 17-23-175(B) (instructing that the trial judge "**may**" consider the five enumerated factors).

Regardless, the forensic interview statement did in fact represent a detailed account of the offense. In the video, when asked if she knew why she was there, the victim stated she was present for the interview because she had been "raped" by her grandmother's boyfriend, Ray Warren. (See State's Exhibit # 5, Forensic Interview DVD). When asked to elaborate, she stated that Appellant touched her "down here," kissed her, and made her put her face on his private part. She then explained that Appellant did these things to her more than one time and indicated the abuse first happened after her grandmother began dating Appellant. She indicated the last incident of abuse occurred when she was "maybe" eight years old. (See State's Exhibit # 5).

The victim subsequently stated that the abuse occurred mainly while she was living in "Trailer 19" in Greenville and that the abuse occurred at "Trailer 20" where Appellant and her grandmother lived. She explained that the touching incidents involved Appellant touching her "woo hoo" (which she indicated was her vaginal area) with his hand and rubbing it under her clothes on the inside. She stated these incidents usually happened in the living room, her room, or her grandmother's room and that they occurred

(R. p. 119, lines 7-17). See State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003) ("In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal.").

when her grandmother was gone and other people were not around. She stated she was usually sitting down in a chair at the time of the abuse and that she was sometimes watching television. She explained that her clothes and Appellant's clothes remained on during the touching incidents. She stated that after Appellant touched her, she would usually go cry somewhere. (See State's Exhibit # 5).

The victim then described an incident where Appellant made her put her face on his privates. She stated that this incident occurred at nighttime at her grandmother's house (Trailer 20) while her grandmother was gone to the store. She stated she was around age eight at the time of this incident. She stated that she had begged her grandmother not to go to the store, but her grandmother told her she would be right back. The victim's sister was asleep at Trailer 19 at the time. The victim stated she was watching television in the living room when Appellant entered the room and made her sit down on the sofa with him. He then pulled out his penis and pushed her head down such that her cheek was on his penis. The victim started crying and "freaking out," and Appellant stood up, zipped his pants up, and said, "Okay, okay." Appellant then went back to his room. (See State's Exhibit # 5).

The victim also indicated that Appellant touched her "boobs" one or two times when she was standing up in Trailer 20. She stated that Appellant put his hand up her shirt and started rubbing on her bare skin. She stated she knew he was not supposed to be doing this. The victim estimated she was around age seven when these incidents occurred. (See State's Exhibit # 5).

The victim also stated that Appellant kissed her on several occasions at "Kathy and grandma's house" and at Trailer 20. She indicated Appellant would grab her shoulders and then kiss her, and that she would tell him to "quit" and push him away.

Appellant then usually laughed. She stated Appellant put his tongue in her mouth at one point but not every time. She estimated she was around age nine when the kissing events occurred. (See State's Exhibit # 5). Finally, the victim described one incident of touching that occurred outside at Cannon's Fishing Lake. She stated that she and Appellant had gone fishing when the victim was around seven years old and that Appellant touched her "down there" while they were fishing. (See State's Exhibit # 5).

Appellant's contention that the forensic interview video is "very vague and far from detailed" is rebutted by a review of the video. The victim did indeed provide a detailed account of the alleged offenses where she described who was present at the time of the offenses, what happened, where it happened, and her approximate age at the time.² Appellant points out that the statements in the forensic interview video were not as detailed as the statements given during the victim's trial testimony. (Brief of Appellant, p. 14-15). This is irrelevant and a red herring. The trial judge cannot be faulted for failing to compare the forensic interview video with the victim's trial testimony because the trial testimony had not yet taken place. Further, the forensic interview took place on July 20, 2011, when the victim was only eleven years old, while the trial took place on October 7-9, 2013, when the victim was thirteen years old. (R. p. 118, lines 2-4; p. 145, lines 19-22). In that vein, at trial, the prosecutor asked pointed questions of the victim in an attempt to elicit as much information as possible so as to meet the required burden of proof; therefore, it is not surprising that more detail was elicited at trial. (See R. p. 145-87). For these reasons, Appellant's comparison of the victim's forensic interview video

² As discussed previously, the statute provided leeway for the trial judge to take into account the age of the victim at the time of the forensic interview, the fact that the victim had been abused over the course of a number of years at a young age, and the fact that there was a delay between the abuse and the disclosure of the abuse. As child abuse pediatrician Dr. Nancy Henderson explained at trial, it is not unusual for children to provide broad time frames regarding abuse, especially when the disclosure of the abuse was delayed. (R. p. 138, line 17 - p. 139, line 2; p. 140, lines 21-24).

with her trial testimony is misplaced and the fact that *additional* detail was elicited at trial does not mean that the forensic interview video was lacking in detail.

In conclusion, Appellant's argument on appeal - to the extent it is preserved for review - is wholly without merit and the trial judge properly admitted the forensic interview video at trial. Appellant's conviction for lewd act upon a minor should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION